2011

Mariposa Express, Inc. v. United Shipping Solutions, LLC, Et Al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeal has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78A-4-103(2)(j) (2009) whereby the Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over cases transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court. In this case, the Utah Supreme Court had original jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78A-3-102(3)(j) (2009), and transferred the case to the Utah Court of Appeals on September 21, 2011.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue

Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law in holding that the dispute between the parties was subject to a mandatory arbitration provision when the arbitration provision at issue does not apply to all disputes arising out of the agreement between the parties, the disputes in this case fall outside of the three categories of disputes that the parties agreed to submit to arbitration, and the Appellants' causes of action concern subject matter outside the scope of the arbitration provision?

Standard of Review

Whether a district court correctly interpreted the scope of an arbitration clause is a question of law and reviewed for correctness. Peterson & Simpson v. IHC Health Services, Inc., 2009 UT 54, ¶18 (Utah 2009). In reviewing a motion to dismiss, the court "must accept the factual allegations in the complaint as true and consider all reasonable inferences to be drawn from those facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff." Acord v. Union Pacific R. Co., 821 P.2d 1194, 1197 (Utah App. 1991)

Preservation for Appeal

This issue was preserved in Mariposa's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss, filed on August 11, 2011, and during the hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss, held on August 19, 2011. (R. 568-677, 702).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This is an appeal from a September 6, 2011, order of the district court dismissing the Complaint of Appellants (the “Mariposa Franchisees”) and compelling the parties into mandatory arbitration. (R. 703-705).

On July 1, 2011, the Mariposa Franchisees filed their Complaint in the district court. (R. 1-130).¹ On August 1, 2011, Appellees (“USS”) filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss, Or, Alternatively, to Stay Proceedings Pending Arbitration. (R. 136-139). After the matter was fully briefed, an expedited hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss was held on August 19, 2011. (R. 702). At the end of the hearing, the district court stated:

Well, to be quite honest with everybody, I didn’t read all this stuff, I flipped through it. My concern was basically this settlement agreement and that’s what I was interested in. And I can – I can appreciate what the plaintiffs are saying, but I agree with you, [Defendants’ counsel], I think this is broad enough to allow for the kinds of information they think they need to see.”

(R. 807:28). The district court then dismissed the case and ordered the parties to engage in arbitration. (R. 703-705, 807:28). Because it considered the motion as one to dismiss and did not consider any documents outside of the pleadings, the district court made no findings of fact. (R. 807:28). The Mariposa Franchisees filed their Notice of Appeal on September 16, 2011. (R. 706-712).

¹ For the Court’s convenience, a copy of the Mariposa Franchisees’ Complaint (R. 1-19) (the “Complaint”), without exhibits, has been attached as Exhibit A to the Addendum.

B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

i. THE INITIAL DISPUTE.

The Mariposa Franchisees and USS were parties to written franchise agreements under which the Mariposa Franchisees resold small parcel shipping services obtained from USS. (R. 4; Complaint at ¶¶24-25). Specifically, the Mariposa Franchisees resold small parcel shipping services that USS had negotiated from DHL Express (USA), Inc. (“DHL”). (R. 4-5; Complaint at ¶27). However, on November 10, 2008, DHL publicly announced that it would discontinue its domestic shipping services on January 30, 2009. (R. 5; Complaint at ¶29). The vast majority of the business of the Mariposa Franchisees consisted of reselling those services that DHL had discontinued. (R. 5; Complaint at ¶30). As a result, the Mariposa Franchisees’ small parcel shipping businesses were destroyed. (R. 5; Complaint at ¶31). Furthermore, under the non-competition provisions of their franchise agreements with USS, the Mariposa Franchisees were unable to contract with another transportation services business that could offer replacement services or products. (R. 5; Complaint at ¶32).

The Mariposa Franchisees therefore filed a declaratory judgment against USS in the Third District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Case No. 080925107, (the “Initial Lawsuit”) seeking, among other things, discharge from all remaining obligations under their respective franchise agreement, including all post-termination obligations. (R. 5; Complaint at ¶33). USS counterclaimed, alleging, among other things, that the Mariposa Group had failed to make payments required under the franchise agreements and were in breach of other provisions. (R. 5; Complaint at ¶33). USS also filed a lawsuit against DHL in Utah State Court, entitled USS Logistics, LLC et al. v. DHL Express (USA), Inc., Case No. 080926254 (the “DHL Lawsuit”). (R. 5-6; Complaint at ¶35). DHL filed a counterclaim against USS seeking payment for services rendered on behalf of USS and the Mariposa Group. Id.

ii. THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

Ultimately, the Mariposa Franchisees and USS entered into a settlement agreement that resulted in the Initial Lawsuit being dismissed (the “Agreement”). (R. 6; Complaint at ¶36).² Pursuant to the Agreement, the Mariposa Franchisees were required to make a settlement payment to USS. (R. 6, 26-27; Complaint at ¶39; Agreement at ¶4). In addition, the Mariposa Franchisees were obligated to pay USS for all outstanding amounts owed for freight services obtained through USS. (R. 6, 22; Complaint at ¶37; Agreement at ¶1). The amount owed for freight services was to be agreed upon by the parties pursuant to procedures and deadlines set forth in the Agreement. (R. 22-23; Agreement at ¶1.a). If there was any dispute regarding the amounts due for freight, the parties agreed to resolve it through binding arbitration. (R. 24; Agreement at ¶1.c). The Mariposa Franchisees fulfilled their obligations with respect to the settlement payment and the freight services payment. (R. 6; Complaint at ¶¶38-39).

Pursuant to Paragraph 3 of the Agreement, the Mariposa Franchisees were also obligated to indemnify USS for any amounts that USS was “determined to owe DHL through judgment or settlement for DHL services” provided to the Mariposa Franchisees. (R. 6, 25; Complaint at ¶42; Agreement at ¶3). However, because the DHL Lawsuit was still pending, liability for the amounts owed for DHL services, if any, was deferred until the DHL Lawsuit was resolved. (R. 25; Agreement at ¶¶3, 3.a). If USS desired to settle the DHL Lawsuit, it was required to provide the Mariposa Franchisees with sufficient information to calculate the amount due for DHL services. (R. 7, 25; Complaint at ¶44-45; Agreement at ¶3.a). If the Mariposa Franchisees disputed that amount, USS would still have the right to settle the DHL Lawsuit and the amount due from the Mariposa Franchisees would be resolved through arbitration. (R. 7, 24-25; Complaint at ¶¶46-47; Agreement at ¶¶1.c, 3.a). Similarly, if there was a judgment in the DHL Lawsuit that USS owed DHL for services provided to the Mariposa Franchisees, any disputes concerning the amount due would be resolved through arbitration. (R. 25; Agreement at

² For the Court’s convenience, a copy of the settlement agreement (R. 21-54) (the “Agreement”), without exhibits, has been attached as Exhibit B to the Addendum.

¶3.a).

iii. THE DHL LAWSUIT IS SETTLED AND USS SEEKS INDEMNIFICATION UNDER PARAGRAPH 3 OF THE AGREEMENT.

In the fall of 2010, USS and DHL settled the DHL Lawsuit. (R. 8; Complaint at ¶49). As a result of the settlement, the parties dismissed their claims against each other and no judgment was entered against USS. (R. 8; Complaint at ¶49-50). However, USS never informed the Mariposa Franchisees that it was entering into a settlement with DHL. (R. 8; Complaint at ¶52). Nor did USS provide the Mariposa Franchisees with the information required to calculate the amount owed for DHL services prior to entering into the settlement with DHL. (R. 8, Complaint at ¶51). As a result, the Mariposa Franchisees did not dispute the amount owed for DHL services prior to USS entering into its settlement with DHL.

Instead, several months after it had settled the case with DHL, USS sent a letter to the Mariposa Franchisees claiming that Paragraph 3's indemnification provision had been triggered. (R. 8, 97-99; Complaint at ¶53). Specifically, the letter claimed that, because summary judgment had been entered against USS prior to the settlement, USS's recovery in the settlement had been offset by the amounts owed for DHL services provided to the Mariposa Franchisees. (R. 8, 97-98; Complaint at ¶54). However, the memorandum decision granting summary judgment expressly stated that the amount of USS's liability was disputed and would have to be determined at trial. (R. 10, 112-113; Complaint at ¶¶68-69). Moreover, because USS and DHL settled the case and dismissed their claims, the amount of USS's liability to DHL was never determined at trial or reduced to a final judgment. (R. 10; Complaint at ¶¶70). In addition, the letter did not provide a copy of the settlement agreement with DHL, any details regarding the amount of the alleged offset, or the amount that USS had been determined to owe on behalf of each of the Mariposa Franchisees. (R. 8, 97-99; Complaint at ¶¶55-56).

The letter further claimed that Mariposa Franchisees were required to raise any dispute regarding the amounts owed for DHL services under the same deadlines and

procedures used in determining the amount owed for freight services. (R. 9, 98; Complaint at ¶59). Lastly, the letter provided the Mariposa Franchisees with access to USS's corporate payment screen and open franchise invoices for their respective franchises (the "CAMS Data") and requested that the Mariposa Franchisees calculate how much they owed USS. (R. 98; Complaint at ¶58).

When the Mariposa Franchisees requested additional information regarding the details of the settlement, USS still failed to provide a copy of the settlement agreement, details of the alleged offset, or the amount that it had been determined to owe on behalf of each of the Mariposa Franchisees. (R. 10, 103-104; Complaint at ¶¶65-67). Instead, USS claimed that the Mariposa Franchisees' request did not constitute a dispute under the Agreement and that the Mariposa Franchisees were deemed to have not disputed the amounts contained in the CAMS Data because they had failed to meet the deadlines and procedures used in determining the amount owed for freight services. (R. 104).

When they were unable to obtain a copy of USS's settlement agreement with DHL from USS and details of the alleged offset, the Mariposa Franchisees filed the underlying lawsuit in this appeal. (R. 10; Complaint at ¶71). The lawsuit did not dispute the amounts contained in the CAMS Data. Instead, the Mariposa Franchisees' First Cause of Action sought a declaratory judgment that the Agreement required USS to provide the Mariposa Franchisees with a settlement agreement showing the amounts, if any, that USS had been determined to pay to DHL on behalf of the Mariposa Franchisees. (R. 12; Complaint at ¶84). In addition, the Mariposa Franchisees sought an injunction ordering USS to provide the Mariposa Franchisees with a copy of the settlement agreement with DHL. Id. The Complaint's Second Cause of Action sought a declaratory judgment that the deadlines for determining the freight amounts owed were inapplicable to determining the amounts owed for DHL services. (R. 13; Complaint at ¶93). The Complaint's Third Cause of Action sought a declaratory judgment that the arbitration provisions of the Agreement were not applicable to the current circumstances. (R. 15; Complaint at ¶106). And the Mariposa Franchisees' Fourth and Fifth Causes of Action sought a declaratory judgment that they were not in default under the Agreement, as well as an injunction

preventing USS from acting as though he Mariposa Franchisees were in default. (R. 16-17; Complaint at ¶¶114, 122).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred in dismissing the Complaint and compelling arbitration because the Mariposa Franchisees never agreed to arbitrate the disputes that form the basis of the Complaint. A party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute that he has not agreed to so submit. MacDonald Redhawk Investors v. Ridges at Redhawk, 2006 UT App 491, ¶3, 153 P.3d 787 (Utah App. 2006). In this case, the district court never identified which arbitration provision in the Agreement was applicable or why the causes of action in the Complaint fell within the scope of the arbitration provision. As a result, the district court failed to discern that disputes before it were not subject to arbitration because (1) the parties only agreed to arbitrate three specific categories of disputes and the disputes contained in the Complaint do not fall into these three categories; and (2) the causes of action in the Complaint do not involve any dispute of the amounts contained in the CAMS Data or a judgment.

First, while the district court may have believed that the parties had agreed to arbitrate all disputes arising from the Agreement, the plain language of the Agreement only requires the parties to resolve three categories of disputes through arbitration. The first category of disputes includes any dispute regarding freight payments. However, the Complaint does not fall into the first category of disputes because it does not involve freight payments – the Mariposa Franchisees have already fulfilled all of their obligations with respect to freight payments. The second category of disputes is conditional. It only includes dispute over the amounts contained in the CAMS Data if the CAMS Data has been provided to the Mariposa Franchisees prior to USS entering into a settlement with DHL. However, USS did not provide the Mariposa Franchisees with CAMS Data prior

to entering into its settlement with DHL. As a result, the Complaint does not fall into this second category of disputes. And the third and final category includes any dispute over the amounts contained in a judgment entered against USS. However, no judgment was entered in the DHL Lawsuit – USS and DHL entered into a settlement agreement and dismissed their claims against each other. As a result, the Complaint does not fall into this third category of disputes. The Agreement requires that all other disputes, including a default by the Mariposa Franchisees, be resolved through an action commenced in the Third District Court for the State of Utah. As a result, the disputes in the Complaint do not fall within the scope of the arbitration provision.

Second, the disputes raised in the Complaint do not fall within the limited subject matter covered by the arbitration provision. The parties only agreed to arbitrate disputes over freight, or the accuracy of the amounts contained in the CAMS Data or a judgment. In furtherance of this intent, the Agreement requires that a forensic accountant, who is to determine the amounts owed for any disputed invoices, conduct the arbitration. The parties did not intend that arbitration resolve any legal disputes between them with respect to liability or their obligations under the Agreement. However, none of the causes of action in the Complaint involve a dispute over the amounts contained in the CAMS Data or a judgment. Instead, the Complaint seeks production of the settlement agreement between USS and DHL, as well as declaratory judgments regarding the parties' liability and obligations under the indemnification provision of Paragraph 3 of the Agreement. As a result, the causes of action in the Complaint fall outside the subject matter of the arbitration provision.

ARGUMENT

The district court erred in dismissing the Complaint and compelling arbitration because the Mariposa Franchisees never agreed to arbitrate the disputes that form the basis of the Complaint. “For a dispute to be subject to arbitration, an agreement to arbitrate must exist that binds the party whose submission to arbitration is sought, and the dispute to be arbitrated must fall within the scope of the agreement.” Bybee v. Abdulla, 2008 UT 35, 189 P.3d 40, ¶26 (Utah 2008) (citation omitted). A party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute that he has not agreed to so submit. MacDonald Redhawk Investors v. Ridges at Redhawk, 2006 UT App 491, ¶3, 153 P.3d 787 (Utah App. 2006).³ Therefore, “while there is a presumption in favor of arbitration, that presumption applies only when arbitration is a bargained-for remedy of the parties as evidenced by direct and specific evidence of a contract to arbitrate.” Bybee at ¶26. See also Ellsworth v. American Arbitration Ass'n, 2006 UT 77, ¶14, 148 P.3d 983, 988 (Utah 2006) (holding that the “minimum threshold for ... enforcement [of an arbitration agreement is] direct and specific evidence of an agreement between the parties.”). Direct and specific evidence requires non-inferential evidence. Ellsworth at ¶14.

In determining whether a controversy is subject to arbitration, the agreement defines the scope of the controversy to be arbitrated. Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 44P.3d 663, 673, ¶33 (Utah 2002). “This requires an interpretation of the agreement for a

³ See also Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 44 P.3d 663, 673, ¶33 (Utah 2002) (“a court may only compel arbitration of issues that are within the ‘scope of the matters covered by the agreement.’”); Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 382 v. Utah Transit Authority, 99 P.3d 379, 383, ¶16 (Utah App. 2004) (“if an issue is raised concerning the existence of an arbitration agreement or the scope of the matters covered by the agreement, the court shall determine those issues and order or deny arbitration accordingly”); McCoy v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Utah, 980 P.2d 694, 697, ¶11 (Utah App. 1999) (“Parties are required to arbitrate only those disputes they have agreed to submit to arbitration ... [t]hus, a court deciding a motion to compel arbitration must first determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate, and if so, whether the agreement encompasses the claims asserted”).

finding as to which claims are subject to arbitration.” Peterson & Simpson v. IHC Health Services, Inc., 2009 UT 54, ¶25 (Utah 2009). As with any contract, the court must determine what the parties have agreed upon by looking first to the plain language within the four corners of the document. ID., at ¶13. This is done as a matter of law unless there is an ambiguity in the plain language of the agreement. Id.

In this case, the district court never made any conclusions of law regarding the scope of the Agreement’s arbitration provision or why the Complaint was subject to the arbitration provision. Under the plain meaning of the Agreement, the disputes were not subject to arbitration because (1) the parties only agreed to arbitrate three specific categories of disputes and the disputes raised in the Complaint do not fall into these three categories; and (3) the causes of action in the Complaint do not involve any dispute of the amounts contained in the CAMS Data or a judgment.

A. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION ONLY APPLIES TO THREE SPECIFIC CATEGORIES OF DISPUTES.

The Agreement does not contain a general arbitration provision requiring arbitration of any and all controversies that may arise from the Agreement. Instead, the Agreement only requires the parties to arbitrate three categories of disputes. However, the district court never made any conclusions of law regarding the scope of the arbitration provision or why the parties dispute fell within the scope of the arbitration provision. Not only did the district court fail to perceive that the arbitration provision had a limited scope and was therefore only applicable to three categories of disputes, it failed to identify which category the Complaint fell into. In determining whether this Complaint’s disputes fall within the three categories, the procedural posture of this case is important. Specifically, the district court did not rely on any evidence outside of the pleadings and did not enter any findings of fact when it granted USS’s motion to dismiss. (R. 807:28). Therefore this Court “must accept the factual allegations in the complaint as true and

consider all reasonable inferences to be drawn from those facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.” Acord v. Union Pacific R. Co., 821 P.2d 1194, 1197 (Utah App. 1991).

i. THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT FALL INTO THE FIRST CATEGORY OF DISPUTES BECAUSE IT DOES NOT DISPUTE FREIGHT PAYMENTS.

The Agreement only contains one provision that expressly requires the parties to engage in binding arbitration. That provision of the Agreement, Paragraph 1.c, states as follows:

The Parties agree that any dispute regarding the Freight Payments will be fully and finally resolved exclusively by binding arbitration, as set forth in this provision.

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