2011

Mariposa Express, Inc., Et Al v. United Shipping Solutions, LLC, Et Al: Brief of Appellees

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Finally, it is clear that the dispute between the parties plainly concerns any amounts owing under the indemnification provision and, hence, must be arbitrated. Try as they might, the Mariposa Group cannot avoid the fact that the allegations of the Complaint (no matter how cleverly written to try to avoid arbitration) boil down to whether the Mariposa Group owes some amount to the USS Parties under the indemnification provision. Indeed, from February 2011 to July 2011, the parties

exchanged numerous communications—all of which concerned whether the Mariposa Group owed amounts to the USS Parties under the indemnification provision and, if so, how much was owed. The Mariposa Group took the position that they did not owe anything under that provision and, if they did, the amount indicated in the CAMS Data was incorrect. Such positions plainly fall within the scope of “any dispute between the USS Parties and the Mariposa Franchisees concerning these amounts.” (Settlement Agreement ¶ 3.a). As such, pursuant to Paragraph 3.a, the dispute “shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure set forth in Paragraph 1.c.” *Id.*

The district court saw through the Mariposa Group’s attempt to avoid their obligation to arbitrate the parties’ dispute. The district court’s decision should be affirmed.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Enforced the Arbitration Provision and Construed that Provision in Favor of Arbitration.

Because of Utah’s strong policy favoring arbitration, Utah law has implemented a clear and expedited procedure for resolving motions to compel arbitration. Section 78B-11-108(1) of the Utah Uniform Arbitration Act (the “UAA”) provides, “[o]n motion of a person showing an agreement to arbitrate and alleging another person’s refusal to arbitrate pursuant to the agreement . . . the court *shall* proceed *summarily* to decide the issue and order the parties to arbitrate unless it finds that there is no enforceable agreement to arbitrate.” Utah Code Ann. § 78B-11-108(1) (2008) (emphases added); *see also Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 6, ¶ 33, 44 P.3d 663 (“[I]f a party shows the

existence of an arbitration agreement, then the court shall order the parties to arbitrate.”

(internal quotation marks, citation, and brackets omitted)).

In interpreting this section, the Utah Supreme Court has held that “[w]here the evidence relating to a purported agreement to arbitrate is undisputed, the district court has no discretion under the statute. It must compel arbitration.” *McCoy v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Utah*, 2001 UT 31, ¶ 10, 20 P.3d 901.¹¹ Moreover, section 78B-11-108(4) of the UAA makes clear that “[t]he court may not refuse to order arbitration” even where “the claim subject to arbitration lacks merit or grounds for the claim have not been established.” Further, consistent with Utah’s policy encouraging arbitration, courts are to interpret the scope of arbitration provisions broadly and in favor of arbitration:

[I]f there is any question as to whether the parties agreed to resolve their disputes through arbitration or litigation, . . . we interpret the agreement keeping in mind our policy of encouraging arbitration. “It is the policy of the law in Utah to interpret contracts in favor of arbitration, ‘in keeping with our policy of encouraging extrajudicial resolution of disputes when the parties have agreed not to litigate.’”

Cent. Fla., 2002 UT 3, ¶ 16 (citations omitted; emphasis added).¹²

In this case, it is undisputed that the Settlement Agreement contains an agreement to arbitrate. The Mariposa Group does not dispute that the arbitration provision is valid

¹¹ Section 78B-11-108 was previously codified as Utah Code Ann. § 78-31a-49.

¹² See also *Chandler v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Utah*, 833 P.2d 356, 358 (Utah 1992) (stating “this court has also recognized the strong public policy in favor of arbitration ‘as an approved, practical, and inexpensive means of settling disputes and easing court congestion’” (footnote omitted)); *Docutel Olivetti Corp. v. Dick Brady Sys., Inc.*, 731 P.2d 475, 479 (Utah 1986) (“It is our policy to interpret arbitration clauses in a manner that favors arbitration.”).

and binding. The only question presented by the Mariposa Group's appeal is whether the district court correctly concluded that the dispute between the parties falls within the scope of the arbitration provision. A plain reading of the Settlement Agreement confirms that it did.

B. The Settlement Agreement Requires the Parties to Arbitrate "Any Dispute" Concerning Amounts Owed Under the Indemnification Provision.

The heart of the dispute between the parties is whether the Mariposa Group is obligated to indemnify the USS Parties for the amounts the USS Parties had to pay to DHL for unpaid DHL shipments and, if so, what amount they owe. Throughout 2011, the Mariposa Group repeatedly took the position that they owed nothing under the indemnification provision or, if they did, they did not owe the amount claimed by the USS Parties. (R. 487-88, 561-62). The USS Parties disputed that position. The unambiguous language of the Settlement Agreement shows that the parties agreed that this dispute would be resolved through arbitration.

Whether a motion to compel arbitration was properly granted is, in the first instance, "a matter of contract interpretation" to "determine whether the parties bargained for arbitration as a method of resolving their disagreements." *Cent. Fla.*, 2002 UT 3, ¶ 10. As such, the court looks to the "four corners of the agreement to determine the intentions of the parties." *Id.* ¶ 12 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). If the language is unambiguous, "the parties' intentions are determined from the plain meaning of the contractual language, and the contract may be interpreted as a matter of law." *Id.* In interpreting the arbitration agreement, the court "attempt[s] to harmonize all of the

contract's provisions and all of its terms." *Id.* Moreover, as already noted, the court must construe the contract in favor of arbitration. *Id.* ¶ 16.¹³ Here, the terms of the Settlement Agreement are unambiguous and show that the parties bargained to have disputes like the one between the parties resolved exclusively through arbitration.

The language of the Settlement Agreement is not ambiguous. In the agreement, the parties resolved all disputes between them, except for two issues they left to be resolved at a future date: (1) the amount USS was owed for unpaid freight (to be determined after the CAMS Data had been exchanged), and (2) the amount the USS Parties were determined to owe to DHL for unpaid DHL shipments provided to the Mariposa Franchisees or their customers, if any (regardless of whether that amount was established through settlement or judgment), which was to be determined once the DHL Lawsuit had been concluded. With respect to both of these issues, the parties made clear that "any dispute" would be resolved exclusively through the binding arbitration procedure of Paragraph 1.c. (*See* Settlement Agreement ¶¶ 1.c. & 3.a). In particular, as it relates to the indemnification provision of Paragraph 3, the agreement provides as follows:

3. Indemnification by the Mariposa Franchisees for DHL Services. By entering into this Agreement, the respective Mariposa Franchisees agree to indemnify and hold USS harmless for any and all amounts the USS Parties are determined to owe DHL ***through judgment or settlement*** for DHL services provided to the respective Mariposa

¹³ *See also Docutel Olivetti*, 731 P.2d at 479 ("It is our policy to interpret arbitration clauses in a manner that favors arbitration.").

Franchisees and/or their customers and which the respective Mariposa Franchisees or their customers have not already paid to USS or DHL (*regardless of whether that determination is by judgment or through settlement*, and regardless of whether the amount is determined through set-off amounts that may reduce any judgment in favor of the USS Parties and against DHL). . . .

(Settlement Agreement ¶ 3) (emphases added). The very next paragraph, Subparagraph 3.a (which specifically addresses the amount of the indemnification obligation set forth in Paragraph 3), states that, if “*any dispute*” arises between the parties concerning any amounts at issue, that dispute is a matter for arbitration:

a. The Parties agree that, if DHL and the USS Parties desire to resolve the DHL Lawsuit through a settlement, the USS Parties shall provide the Mariposa Franchisees with access to the CAMS Data (of the same type and nature set forth in Paragraph 1 above) necessary to show the DHL Services provided to the Mariposa Franchisees and/or their customers. If the Mariposa Franchisees do not agree with the amount identified by the USS Parties, the USS Parties shall nevertheless have the right to proceed with the settlement and *any dispute between the USS Parties and the Mariposa Franchisees concerning these amounts shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure [(arbitration)] set forth in Paragraph 1.c. above.* Likewise, if the USS Parties are determined to owe DHL, through a judgment, any amount for services provided to the Mariposa Franchisees and/or their customers, *any dispute between the USS Parties and the Mariposa Franchisees concerning such amounts shall be resolve[d] in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure [(arbitration)] set forth in Paragraph 1.c above. . . .*¹⁴

¹⁴ Paragraph 1.c of the Settlement Agreement provides, in part:

Dispute Resolution Procedure. The Parties agree that *any dispute* regarding the [indemnification obligation] will be fully and finally resolved exclusively by binding arbitration, as set forth in this provision.

i. If USS and any Mariposa Franchisee are unable to resolve *any dispute* regarding the amount owed by a Mariposa Franchisee . . . within ten (10) days after USS has delivered the Dispute Notice to such

(continued . . .)

Id. ¶ 3.a (emphases added).

Interpreting paragraphs 3, 3.a and 1.c. together plainly shows that the parties wanted to avoid further extended litigation and intended to arbitrate, on an expected basis, “any dispute” concerning the amounts the USS Parties claimed to be owed under the indemnification provision, regardless of whether that dispute arose out of a settlement between the USS Parties and DHL or a judgment in the DHL Lawsuit. The use of the words “any dispute,” denotes that the parties intended *all disputes* regarding the amounts—whether the dispute centered on a discrepancy in the numbers or in the basic question of whether Mariposa Franchisees owed anything at all—to be resolved by arbitration. (R. 807 at 26:12-18).

C. The Mariposa Group’s Narrow, Hypertechnical Interpretation Is not Consistent with the Settlement Agreement and Is Unreasonable.

In their attempt to escape arbitration, the Mariposa Group advocates a narrow, hypertechnical, and unreasonable interpretation of Paragraph 3.a of the Settlement Agreement. To do so, they manufacture imaginary limitations and conditions that are not present in the agreement. Their interpretation does not comport with Utah law, does not

(. . . continued)

franchisee, the parties shall submit the matter to binding arbitration before one forensic accountant, who shall review the parties’ documentation and establish the amount owed to USS, if any, on any disputed invoices.

Settlement Agreement ¶ 1.c (emphases added).

follow the requirement that arbitration provisions should be construed broadly in favor of arbitration, and should be rejected.

The Mariposa Group argues that the Settlement Agreement provides only three limited categories of disputes that the parties intended to be subject to arbitration. The first category they argue derives from Paragraphs 1.a & b of the Settlement Agreement and pertains only to freight disputes. (*See* Aplt.' Brief at 11-12). The second category of disputes they claim are subject to arbitration arises out of the last sentence of Paragraph 3.a, and, according to them, pertains only where a dispute arises after a judgment has been entered in the DHL Lawsuit. (*Id.* at 14-15). As no final judgment was entered in that case, the Mariposa Group claims this category is inapplicable. (*Id.*) Finally, the Mariposa Group asserts that the third category of arbitrable disputes comes out of Paragraph 3.a, but claims such disputes are only arbitrable if the USS Parties want to settle with DHL *and* if the USS Parties satisfy "certain specific" preconditions. (*See id.* at 14-15).¹⁵ If the USS Parties failed to satisfy any of those conditions, they claim the USS Parties "forfeit[ed] any right to arbitration." (*Id.* at 14). The Mariposa Group claims that, because the USS Parties did not satisfy each of these conditions precedent prior to settling with DHL, the USS Parties lost their right to submit the dispute to arbitration.

¹⁵ Specifically, the Mariposa Group identifies these "certain specific" conditions to consist of the following four steps: (1) "USS must desire to resolve the DHL Lawsuit through settlement"; (2) "USS must provide the Mariposa Franchisees with CAMS Data before entering into a settlement with DHL"; (3) "the Mariposa Franchisees must disagree with the amounts identified by USS through the CAMS Data"; (4) "USS must proceed with settlement." (Aplt.' Brief at 13).

(*Id.*) The Mariposa Group's interpretation finds no support in the Settlement Agreement, ignores the obvious breadth of the words "any disputes," and is unreasonable.

As already noted, Paragraph 3.a provides that "***any dispute***" concerning the amounts identified by the USS Parties must be resolved through arbitration. This language, particularly when read in light of Utah law that requires arbitration provisions to be construed broadly and in favor of arbitration, *see Cent. Fla.*, 2002 UT 3, ¶ 16, denotes that ***all*** disputes relating in any way to any amounts alleged to be owing fall within the arbitration requirement.¹⁶ Not only would the Mariposa Group's interpretation require a court to sidestep the words "any dispute" and applicable Utah law, the preconditions they seek to impose are unsupported by the language of the agreement. Paragraph 3.a ***does not state*** that, if the USS Parties do not inform the Mariposa Group of the settlement or provide the CAMS Data before a settlement, they forfeit their right to

¹⁶ The Mariposa Group cites to *Bybee v. Abdulla*, 2008 UT 35, ¶ 26, 189 P.3d 40, and *Ellsworth v. American Arbitration Ass'n*, 2006 UT 77, ¶ 14, 148 P.3d 983, for the proposition that the "presumption in favor of arbitration . . . applies only when arbitration is a bargained-for remedy of the parties as evidenced by direct and specific evidence of a contract to arbitrate." (Aplts.' Brief at 10 (quoting *Bybee*, 2008 UT App ¶ 26) Their reliance on these cases is misplaced. Those cases addressed whether there was any agreement to arbitrate in the first instance given the lack of direct and specific evidence. *See Bybee*, 2008 UT 35, ¶ 34 (holding arbitration agreement cannot bind a nonsignatory spouse bringing a wrongful death claim); *Ellsworth*, 2006 UT 77, ¶ 18 (holding that arbitration agreement with a person's name but no signature is not direct and specific evidence of an agreement to arbitrate). In contrast, in this case, there is no dispute that an agreement to arbitrate exists. Hence, the presumption in favor of arbitration unquestionably applies.

arbitration.¹⁷ Indeed, there is no mention anywhere in the agreement that the arbitration requirement is ever to be disregarded. Moreover, Paragraphs 1 and 3 do not contain any language that would indicate that disputes are to be resolved in a manner other than through arbitration.¹⁸

Adding to the problems with the Mariposa Group's interpretation is the fact that their alleged preconditions to arbitrability do not move this dispute away from arbitration. Rather, they require it. After all, the UAA provides that, while a court may decide "whether an agreement to arbitrate exists or a controversy is subject to an agreement to arbitrate":

An arbitrator *shall decide* whether a *condition precedent* to arbitrability has been fulfilled and whether a contract containing a valid agreement to arbitrate is enforceable.

¹⁷ The Mariposa Group has lost any right to argue that the USS Parties waived or forfeited the right to arbitrate as they did not raise that issue with the district court and did not preserve it for appeal. See *In re Adoption of Baby E.Z.*, 2011 UT 38, ¶ 25, 266 P.3d 702; see also *Anderson v. Thompson*, 2008 UT App 3, ¶ 38, 176 P.3d 464 ("Because [appellant] raises his waiver argument for the first time on appeal, and has failed to cite where in the record his argument is preserved, we refuse to address the merits of this claim.").

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